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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
JACKSONVILLE DIVISION

NATHANIEL LOCKLEY, individually
and on behalf of those similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
Case Number
V.
EBS SECURITY, Inc.,
Defendant.

/

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

1. Plaintiff, was an employee of Defendant, and brings this action for unpaid
overtime wages (§ 7), and other relief under the Fair Labor Standards Act. Additionally,
Plaintiff seeks minimum wages under Article X, Section 24 of the Florida Constitution,
unpaid wages under Chapter 448 of the Florida Statutes. Plaintiff worked for Defendant
from approximately June 2016 through November of 2016.

2. Defendant operates and conducts business in Jacksonville, Florida, and are
therefore, within the jurisdiction of the Court.

3. This action is brought under the FLSA to recover from Defendant, minimum
wages, unpaid overtime wages, liquidated damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees and
costs. Additionally, Plaintiff seeks minimum wages under Article X, Section 24 of the
Florida Constitution and unpaid wages under Chapter 448 of the Florida Statutes.

4. The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s minimum wage overtime

(29 U.S.C. § 207) claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and supplemental jurisdiction
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over Plaintiff’s state constitutional minimum wage claim, unpaid wages claim (Fla. Stat.
§ 448.08) and claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).

5. Atall material times relevant to this action, Defendant was an enterprise
covered by the FLSA, and as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(r) and 203(s).

6. Defendant employed Plaintiff as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(d). Plaintiff’s day
to day employment was directed Printella Bankhead, who supervised Plaintiff’s
employment.

7. Defendant employed Plaintiff in a position that did not involve significant
discretion. Likewise, Plaintiff was not employed by Defendant in a managerial capacity.
Plaintiff was not employed in an administrative capacity. Plaintiff was employed in a
labor capacity only.

8. Plaintiff’s work involved interaction with the instrumentalities of interstate
commerce, and was individually entitled to the protections of the FLSA, which included
but was not limited to functioning as a security guard, for Defendant, at numerous
locations, including hotels and rehabilitation facilities and this involved the protection of
goods and people that come from states other than Florida.

9. Atall times relevant to this action, Defendant failed to comply with 29 U.S.C.
§§ 201-209, because Plaintiff performed labor related services for Defendant for which
no provisions were made by Defendant to properly pay Plaintiff for all hours worked in
excess of forty within a work week, and to ensure that Plaintiff was paid at the minimum

wage for each hour worked within a work week.
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10. During Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant, Plaintiff was not paid time
and one-half his regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) per work
week during one or more work weeks.

11. Upon information and belief, the vast majority of the employment related
records, to the extent any exist, concerning the number of hours worked and amounts
paid to Plaintiff is in the possession and custody of Defendant.

COUNT I - RECOVERY OF OVERTIME
COMPENSATION

12. Plaintiff reincorporates and readopts all allegations contained within
Paragraphs 1-11 above.

13. Plaintiff was entitled to be paid time at one-half his regular rate of pay for
each hour worked in excess of forty (40) per work week. During his employment with
Defendant, Plaintiff was not paid for all of the hours that he worked and there are weeks
for which the Defendant paid Plaintiff straight-time as opposed to premium wages for
various weeks of Plaintiff’s employment. Upon information and belief, there are
similarly situated employees who were also not paid in accordance with the law as
Defendant employees in excess of ten similarly situated persons and Defendant’s stated
policy is not to pay premium wages. In fact, when Plaintiff inquired as to why he was not
being paid premium wages to his immediate supervisor, referenced above, said
supervisor specifically stated, “you know I don’t pay that (overtime rate)...I would have
thought your co-workers would have made that clear to you by now...I am tired of trying
to please you people (security guards).” Plaintiff routinely worked in excess of
approximately ten hours a week, for which he was not paid overtime wages. Defendant

failed, neglected and/or refused to compensate Plaintiff for time Plaintiff spent traveling
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between job sites and Plaintiff would often work at multiple job sites on the same work
day and would not be paid for the time spent traveling between the work sites assigned by
Plaintiff.

14. As a result of Defendant’s intentional, willful, and unlawful acts in refusing
to pay Plaintiff, and those similarly situated to him, their regular rate of pay for each hour
worked in excess of forty (40) per work week in one or more work weeks, Plaintiff has
suffered damages plus incurring reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

15. As aresult of Defendant’s willful violation of the FLSA, Plaintiff is entitled
to liquidated damages.

16. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant, for the payment
of all straight time the regular rate of pay for the hours worked by his for which
Defendant did not properly compensate his liquidated damages, reasonable attorneys’
fees and costs incurred in this action, and any and all further relief that this Court
determines to be just and appropriate.

COUNT II - RECOVERY OF MINIMUM WAGES UNDER
ARTICLE X SECTION 24 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

17. Plaintiff reincorporates and readopts all allegations contained within
Paragraphs 1-11 above.

18. As of May 2005, Pursuant to Article X, Section 24 of the Florida
Constitution, Plaintiff was entitled to be paid minimum wage of $7.93 (the rate increases
each year) for each hour he worked during his employment with Defendant.

19. Defendant willfully failed to pay Plaintiff minimum wage for one or more

weeks of work contrary to Article X, Section 24 of the Florida Constitution. Specifically,
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Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff any wages whatsoever for approximately one-hundred
accrued hours of labor. As a result of Defendant’s actions in this regard, Plaintiff has not
been paid the minimum wage for each hour worked during he employment with
Defendant.

20. As aresult of Defendant’s deliberate underpayment of wages, Plaintiff has
been damaged in the loss of minimum wages for one or more weeks of work with
Defendant.

21. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for damages,
interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in this action.

COUNT III - RECOVERY OF UNPAID WAGES
UNDER CHAPTER 448, FLORIDA STATUTES

22. Plaintiff reincorporates and readopts all allegations contained within
Paragraphs 1-11 above.

23. Plaintiff worked numerous hours for Defendant and did not receive any
compensation, whatsoever. Defendant, therefore, wrongfully deprived Plaintiff of wages
to which he has been lawfully entitled.

24. Plaintiff has been damaged as a result of Defendant’s failure to pay he the
agreed upon wages to which he has been entitled.

25. Pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 448.08, Plaintiff is entitled to the costs of this action
and a reasonable attorneys’ fee.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for the unpaid

wages found to be due and owing, prejudgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and
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costs incurred in this action, and any and all further relief this Court deems just and
appropriate.
Dated this 29th day of November 2016.

[ affirm under penalty of perjury that the factual statements set forth above are true and
correct under penalty of perjury.

Y dochr

Nathéniel Loc(k y

s/ W. John Gadd

W. John Gadd

FL Bar Number 463061

Bank America Building

2727 Ulmerton Rd Ste 250

Clearwater, FL. 33762

Tel —(727)524-6300

Email —
wjg@mazgadd.com
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